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THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD
ASSURANCE | TAX | CONSULTING

RSM Jordan is amember of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSMis the trading name used by the members of the RSM network.
Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices inits own right.
The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction
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Limited Public Shareholding
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King Abdullah Il Ibn Al Hussain
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Board of Directors

The current Board of Directors was elected on 24/12/2024 and is composed of:

Budapest Commercial Investment Co. As of 24/12/2024 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Represented by: As of 14/1/2025

Mr. Ammar Mahmoud Abdulgader Abu Namous

Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri As of 24/12/2024 Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors as of 14/1/2025

Mr. Taj Ammar Mahmoud Abu Namous As of 24/12/2024 Member
Mr. Mahmoud salem Hussain abu Assaf As of 24/12/2024 Member
Mr. Osama ali Abdullah Mohammad As of 14/1/2025 Member

The Previous Board of Directors that was dissolved on 24/12/2024:

Mr. Nidal Yahya Mohamed Al-Sagarat As 0f 01/10/2016 Chairman of the Board of Directors
As of 30/4/2018

Mr. Walid Muhammad Jamil Al-Jamal As of 20/2/2014  Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors

Mr. Nidal Hassan Abdullah Abu Ali As of 20/2/2014 Member

Mr. Tarig Abdul-Malik Yunis As of 30/4/2018 Member

Mr. Thabit Fakhri Sulaiman Khasawneh As of 27/4/2022 Member

CEO / Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri

Financial Auditors
RSM Jordan- Adel Ayoub (license # 499)

Company's Attorneys
Amin Khawaldeh
Fawwaz Tuffaha & Sherin Hassasha
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Speech of the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Dear Shareholders,

Please Allow me to present to you the twenty-fifth annual report, highlighting our
achievements during the past year, 2024. In this report, | will review the company's
consolidated financial statements for 2024.

The year 2024 witnessed significant events that negatively impacted the economic
circumstances in the region in general, and the real estate market and tourism
activity in particular. Nevertheless, the company maintained a good occupancy rate
for its leased properties and continued its real estate leasing and management
activities. It worked hard to preserve its sources of revenue. Total revenue from real
estate leasing and management achieved by the company amounted to 667,000
JODs, and the total profit from operating activities amounted to 136,000 JODs.

The company is keen to diversify its sources of revenue by investing its available cash
liquidity in bank deposits, whose interest income during the past year amounted to
65,000 dinars. The company seeks to develop new strategies in the coming period to
reduce its administrative expenses and achieve profits in the coming years. It also
studies the current status of investments and available opportunities to achieve the
best possible returns.

Finally, | can only extend my sincere thanks to the shareholders for the trust they
have placed in us, and to all employees of the company. | hope that investment
conditions in the region will improve and that we will live up to everyone's
expectations as we strive to provide the tourism and real estate sectors in the
Kingdom with high-quality services and projects, meet the needs of society, and
achieve the best possible returns for shareholders.

Thank you,

Ammar Mahmoud Abdulgader Abu Namous

Chairman
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Twenty-Fifth report of the Board of Directors submitted to the
General Assembly
At its reqular annual meeting for the year ending December 31, 2024

Dear shareholders,
After greetings,

The Board of Directors is pleased to welcome you and thanks you for attending this
twenty-fourth annual meeting, and it is also pleased to put in your hands the annual
report explaining the company's business, activities, achievements and future plan,
including the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024.

Introduction:

Jordan Decapolis Properties Company, during the year 2024, continued to develop
the real estates owned to achieve the best return on investment of these real
estates, whether by selling or leasing and proceeding with its marketing.

Below we explain the company's most important investments and the achievements
made on them:

First: Commercial Complex Projects:

1- The commercial building project in the seventh circle area:

The Eagle International Investment Group, a wholly owned subsidiary of Jordan
Decapolis Properties, owns a commercial building with high specifications, built on
a plot of 2940 SQM in a distinctive commercial location near the seventh circle on
the airport road, and the building has been leased starting the year 2019 with a
reasonable return.
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2-Aqgarco Center:

The company owns 47% of the Agarco commercial center located in a distinctive location
in the Abdali area, which consists of 11 floors includes offices, shops, warehouses, and 5
floors of garages, and it is fully serviced, as the company is continuously developing the
center and making improvements on it for the purposes of equipping the center units for
rent or sale.

Second: Tourism Projects:

1. Amman Neighborhoods Project:

The company invests in a tourism project concerned with developing and
managing properties of a distinctive heritage in one of the heritage
neighborhoods in the city of Amman (the First Circle area and Rainbow Street in
Jabal Amman) by investing in the Ahyaa Amman Company for the rehabilitation
and development of real estate with a share of 63%, which is considered one of
the distinguished projects In Jordan due to the peculiarity of the area in which it
is located in terms of its importance as part of the history of the city of Amman.
Ahyaa Amman Company owns 23 properties in that area, some of which are
rented as shops, prestigious tourist restaurants, in addition to serviced
apartments with a distinctive heritage and modern character, all of which are
considered among the most important historical landmarks of the capital
Amman, in addition to that the company is currently studying the establishment
of tourism projects in cooperation with Amman municipality. It has an
architectural character in line with the heritage of the region.

Also, a plot of land was equipped as parking lots to facilitate traffic and serve
visitors to the region, including the students of the German Jordanian University-
Faculty of Architecture.
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2.The Southern Dead Sea Development Project:

The Southern Dead Sea Development Company, one of the company’s subsidiaries
owned jointly with Social Security, owns several plots of land in a distinctive and
touristy location in the Dead Sea Ministry area, with a total area of 455K SQM, with
the aim of establishing a tourism project consisting of a group of hotels, a spa, and a
group of villas and apartments.

A comprehensive plan and its architectural design were implemented and the
approval of the Investment Authority obtained which increased the land’s market
over the value in the books, as a result of the trend to invest in the region due to its
tourist attraction at the regional level.
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Third: Other assets of the company :

1- Lands in the north of the kingdom:
The company owns lands in the north of the kingdom, consists of 26 plots of land
with a total area of 292K SQM in distinct locations with the aim of investing in the
company's future projects or selling them according to market conditions, as the
company markets these lands for sale by contacting several brokers familiar with the
area.

2- Agaba warehouse:

The company owns a commercial warehouse with the highest specifications in the
city of Agaba, the warehouse is currently leased .

Fourth: Investments in companies:

As part of the company's policy to diversify its investments in real estate companies,
the company has participated in the following companies:

1- Saraya Aqaba:

The company owns a share of 0.351% in Saraya Agaba for Real Estate Development,
which owns a large and integrated tourism project in the city of Agaba on a land
area of 634K SQM at a cost of one and a half billion dollars, the project contains
several facilities, including more than 800 housing units, the Saraya Market, a
conference center and four international hotels, beach club and lake.

The project is managed and developed by the private real estate investment and
development company (Eagle Hills Jordan).

2- Madain Al Shorouk Company:

The company owns 30% of the Mada'in Al Shorouk Company for Investment and
Real Estate Development, as Mada'in Al Shorouk Company owns commercial and
residential lands in Zarqa Governorate, in addition to a residential project in (King
Abdullah City - Zarga Governorate).

The company achieves revenues from the sale of ready-made housing units and
land.
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Fifth: The Results of the company:

A- Revenues:

1. Operating revenue:

The operating income of the company represents the income generated from the
main activities of the company, which are:

Real estate rental

Real estate and project management.

Sale of Real estates.

e Real Estate rental:
Real estate rental income was 588,127 JOD for the year 2024, compared to 572,190
JOD for the year 2023.
The details of the real estate rental income for the last five years were as follows:

Real Estaterental
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580,000

560,000

540,000

520,000

500,000

480,000

460,000 l

440,000 T T T T 1

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

e Real Estate and Project Management:
Revenues from Real Estate and Projects Management for the year 2024 reached JOD
78,935 compared to JOD 76,511for 2023.
Revenues from the real estate management of subsidiaries are excluded for the
purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The details of the property management revenues for the last five years are as
follows:
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Real estate and project management
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2.Non-operating Revenues:

e Interest Income: Bank interest income for 2024 reached JOD 65,263 compared
to JOD 62,444 for 2023.

B- General & Administrative expenses:

G&A expenses amounted to 444,960 JOD for the year 2024, compared to 437,682
JOD for the year .2023

Sixth: The future plan

The company will continue its work in 2024 to implement its future plan represented
by the following:

1. Continuing to develop the company's assets, including rehabilitation for
the purposes of selling and leasing.

2. Development and marketing of real estate and project management
services

24— ] 2
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Seventh: The requirements of the Securities Commission and
instructions for disclosure

According to the instructions of the Securities Commission, and in addition to what is
included in this report, we would like to disclose the following:

First Clause:

A- The main activities of the company
1- Establishing real estate projects for the purpose of selling or leasing
2- Land purchasing, development, parceling out, and establishing projects on
them.
3- Leasing, renting, agency, brokerage, and sale of all types of real estate.
4- Providing project management and property management services to others.
5- Investing in real estate companies.

B- The company's locations and the number of employees in each of them:

Company Head office: Amman Abdali - Agarco Commercial Complex. Number of
employees (9).
There are no branches of the company.

C- Capital investment:

The company's capital investment for the year 2024 amounted to 2,685 JOD,
representing the cost of property and equipment acquired in addition to the
improvements that were capitalized on real estate investments, while it amounted to
20,950 JOD for the year .2023
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Second Clause: Subsidiary companies

Name of the subsidiary company Eagle International Inv. Group
Company

Type of subsidiary company Limited liability

The main activity of the subsidiary Providing real estate services in

addition to real estate development

Invested capital of the subsidiary 50,000 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary 100%*

The subsidiary address & Number of Abdali- Agarco Center- 24
employees employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number | None
of employees for each Branch

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its None
capital

*The number of shares of Eagle International Investment Group in the parent
company as of December 31, 2024 (211,517) shares, and as of December 31,2023

(211,517)shares.

Name of the subsidiary company Jordan Dubai Properties for Land
Development

Type of subsidiary company Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary Investing in real estate and tourism
projects

Invested capital of the subsidiary 50,000 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary 100%

The subsidiary address & Number of employees | Abdali- Agarco Center- no employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number of | None
employees for each Branch

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its capital None

24— 2
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Name of the subsidiary company

Jordan Eye for Specialized resorts

Type of subsidiary company

Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary

Investing in real estate and tourism
projects

Invested capital of the subsidiary

50,000 J0D

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary

100%

The subsidiary address & Number of employees

Abdali- Aqarco Center- no employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number of
employees for each Branch

None

Jordan Dubai Specialized resorts
(50,000 JOD)

Name of the subsidiary company

Aman Jordan Decapolis for Tourism
Investments

Type of subsidiary company

Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary

Investing in real estate and tourism
projects

Invested capital of the subsidiary

50,000 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary

100%

The subsidiary address & Number of employees

Abdali- Aqarco Center- no employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number of
employees for each Branch

None

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its capital

Munya Specialized Resorts (20,000,000
JOD)

24— 2
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Name of the subsidiary company

Jordan Dubai Specialized resorts

Type of subsidiary company

Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary

Investing in real estate and tourism

projects
Invested capital of the subsidiary 50,000 JOD
ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary 73%

The subsidiary address & Number of employees

Abdali- Agarco Center- no employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number of
employees for each Branch

None

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its capital

South Dead Sea Development for
Specialized Resorts (17,000,000 JOD)

Name of the subsidiary company

South Dead Sea Development for
Specialized Resorts

Type of subsidiary company

Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary

Project management and tourist

resorts
Invested capital of the subsidiary 17,000,000 JOD
ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary 51%

The subsidiary address & Number of employees

Abdali- Aqarco Center- no employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number of | None
employees for each Branch
Projects owned by the subsidiary and its capital | None

24—
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Name of the subsidiary company

Munya Specialized Resorts

Type of subsidiary company

Private shareholding

The main activity of the subsidiary

Project management and tourist
resorts

Invested capital of the subsidiary

20,000,000 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary

74%*

The subsidiary address & Number of

Abdali- Agarco Center- no

employees employees
The subsidiary branches addresses & Number | None

of employees for each Branch

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its None

capital

Name of the subsidiary company

Ahyaa Amman Real Estate Dev.

Type of subsidiary company

Limited Liability

The main activity of the subsidiary

Investing in Properties

Invested capital of the subsidiary

15,490,338 Shares / 14,647,931 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary

62,9 %

The subsidiary address & Number of
employees

Abdali- Agarco Center- 8 employees

The subsidiary branches addresses & Number
of employees for each Branch

None

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its
capital

Ahyaa Amman Hotel Investments
(50,000 JOD)

24— =




=
~N properfies

Name of the subsidiary company

Ahyaa Amman Hotel Investments

Type of subsidiary company

Limited Liability

The main activity of the subsidiary

Investing in Properties

Invested capital of the subsidiary

50,000 JOD

ownership of parent co. in the subsidiary

100 %

The subsidiary address & Number of

Abdali- Agarco Center- No

employees employees
The subsidiary branches addresses & Number | None

of employees for each Branch

Projects owned by the subsidiary and its None

capital

24— ]|
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Third Clause:

properfies

A- The Board of Directors with Brief biography for each one:

Name Position Educational Certificates Personal Biography
Mr. Ammar Chairman Bachelor of law from Practical experiences:
Mahmoud Jordan University - Practicing law since 1994.
Abdulqader Abu As of 1992 - Member of the Board of Directors of Jordan
Namous 2025/1/14 Decapolis Properties Company from 2014 to 2017.
Election date: - Former member of the Board of Directors of Bank
2024/12/24 of Jordan.
Date of Birth: - Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman
1968/12/18 of the Board of Directors of several Private

companies and limited liability companies.

Mr. Tareq Nael

Vice Chairman

Practical experiences:

Mansour Al of the Board Bachelor of software - From January 2025 until now: CEO of Jordan
Hammouri As of engineering -2005 Decapolis Properties
24/12/2024 -15 years of experience in the public sector (project
Election date: management and operation, and information
24/12/2024 Chief security and protection management in the
Executive Jordanian e-government)
Date of Birth: Officer -General Manager of Triada International Company
15/4/1979 As of -General Manager of Budapest Commercial
01/09/2014 Investments Company
-Member of the Board of Directors and
Management Committees of several companies
Mr. Taj Ammar member Practical experiences:
Mahmoud Abu Bachelor of Commercial - From 2022 to 2024, Investment Advisor to Julius
Namous As of and Real Estate Law Baer Bank, Switzerland.
24/12/2024 University of Bristol, UK - From 2021 to 2022, Trainee at the Sharif Al-Zoubi
Election date: 2022 Law Firm.
24/12/2024 - Owner of several investment and real estate
Date of Birth: companies.
26/4/1999 Member of the Board of Directors & Management
Committee of several companies.
member -Practical experiences:
Mr. Mahmoud Salem 1987 Bachelor of Science in | - From 1987 to present: Construction contractors
Abu Assaf As of Mechanical Engineering in the United States and Jordan.
24/12/2024 | 1985 Bachelor of Science in | Member of the board of directors and

Election date:
24/12/2024
Date of Birth:
6/4/1962

Civil Engineering

Trine University,Angola,
Indiana, USA

management committees of several companies.

24—




i

= | ID
= N\ properfies
] :
Mr.Osama Ali Head of the Practical experiences:
Abdullah Shareholders Bachelor's degree in -From 1994 until now, Head of the Shareholders
Muhammad Section programming, analysis and | Affairs Department - Jordan Decapolis Properties

Election date:

Secretary of
the Board of

design of information
systems

Company
-Also held several administrative positions in the

14/1/2025 Directors Mu’tah University 1993 company, including the head of the information
Date of Birth: systems department, the equity investment
12/5/1971 department, and the head of government and legal
affairs.
-Secretary and member of the board of directors
and a board of directors in several companies.
The previous Board of Directors was dissolved on 24/12/2024, composed of:
Name Position Educational Certificates Personal Biography
Nidal Yahya Chairman MA in Surveying and Practical experiences:
Muhammed Al- Geodesy, University of -More than 31 years of experience in various
Sagrat As of Nottingham 1997 positions in the Department of Lands and Surveys
30/40/2018 Bachelor of Surveying and | and the Royal Geographical Center.
Election date: Geodesy Engineering from | -From 2010-2014 Director General of the
2016/1/10 the French Geographical Department of Land and Survey
Date of Birth: Institute 1982 -Deputy Director General of the Royal Geographical
1957/11/8 Center
Walid Muhammad Deputy Practical experiences:
Jamil Al-Jamal Chairman of MBA in Professional -From 9 - 2014 until now, CEO of Jordan Decapolis
the Board Accounting Real Estate
Election date: As of University at Buffalo New | -From 2 - 2014 until now Board member of several
2014/2/20 20/20/2014 York 1994 companies owned by Pharaoh Group
-Board member of Medgulf insurance Co.
Date of Birth: Chief Bachelor's degree in - Board Member of Bank of Jordan
1971/4/9 Executive Accounting from the - from 2011- 2013 Director of the Financial and
Officer University of Jordan Administrative Department at First Jordan
As of 1992 Investment Company
01/09/2014 -from 2007-2011 Executive Vice President for
Financial and Administrative Affairs of MGC
Contracting Company - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
-from 2007 - 2001 Financial Controller and
Director of Human Resources Department
Medicine House
Nidal Hassan Abu Ali member Practical experiences:
Accounting Diploma 1984 | -From 2012 until now, Chief Financial Officer of Al-
Election date: As of Jordan Rashad Industrial Investments Co.
2014/2/20 20/2/2014 - From 2009 - 2012 Chief Financial Officer, Pharaoh
Date of Birth: Investment Group Limited
1963/8/1 -From 2009-1999 Chief Financial Officer of Jordan
Ma’in Resort Company
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Member -Practical experiences:
Thabet Fakhri As of Certified Human Resources | -From July 2022 until now Chief Commercial office
Suleiman 27/4/2022 Manager Certificate in Joran Decapolis properties
Khasawneh 2010 -from 2008 until June 2022 Head of Human
Date of hiring: Human Capital Practitioner | Resources Department - Jordan Decapolis
2008/7/27 Accreditation Properties
Date of Birth: Bachelor of Information From 2006 - 2007 HR Specialist Civilian Police Int—.
1983/4/25 Technology, University of | -From 2005-2006 HR Analyst - DynCorp
Jordan 2005 International
-Secretary and member of the board of directors
and a board of directors in several companies
Tariq Abdel Malik Member MBA from Manchester Practical experiences:
Younes Younes As of Business School 1994 -From 2012 Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Election date: 30/4/2018 Bachelor of Accounting the Future Music Company

2018/4/30
Date of Birth:
1972/1/10

from the University of
Jordan 1993

-From 2015 Member of the Board of Directors of
the Eastern Mediterranean Company for Printing
Inks

-Since 2008 Partner / Representative of Jordan -
Global Business Peru - Dubai

- From 2012 — 20080perations Manager - Emaar
Investments — Dubai

-From 2004-2008 Business Development Manager
for Al Rajhi Investment Group - United Arab
Emirates

-From 1995-2004 Director of Business
Development and General Manager of East
Mediterranean Investment Company - Jordan

B- Senior management employees with Brief biography for each one:

e Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri
e Walid Muhammad Jamil Al Jamal

e Thabet Fakhri Sulaiman Khasawneh
e (Osama Ali Abdulla Muhamamd

¢ Riyad Anwar Riyad Al Saoudi

Vice Chairman as of 15-1-2025

CEO Until 31-12-2024

CEO Assistant & CCO until 31-3-2025

Secretary of the Board of directors Until 14-1-2025

Head of the shareholders affairs department

Seretary of the board of directors as of 14-1-2025

Name position Scientific certificate Personal Biography
Mr. Tareq Nael Vice Chairman Professional Experience:
Mansour Al of the Board Bachelor of software - From January 2025 until now: CEO of Jordan
Hammouri As of engineering -2005 Decapolis Properties
24/12/2024 -15 years of experience in the public sector (project
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Election date:

management and operation, and information

24/12/2024 Chief security and protection management in the
Executive Jordanian e-government)
Date of Birth: Officer -General Manager of Triada International Company
15/4/1979 As of -General Manager of Budapest Commercial
01/09/2014 Investments Company
-Member of the Board of Directors and
Management Committees of several companies
Walid Muhammad Deputy Practical experiences:
Jamil Al-Jamal Chairman of Master of Business -From 9 - 2014 until now, CEO of Jordan Decapolis
the Board Administration in Real Estate
Date of hiring: As of Professional Accounting -From 2 - 2014 until now Board member of several
2014/9/1 20/2/2014 University at Buffalo New | companies owned by Pharaoh Group
York 1994 -Board member of Med gulf insurance Co.
Date of Birth: - Board Member of Bank of Jordan
1971/4/9 Bachelor's degree in - from 2011- 2013 Director of the Financial and
Chief Accounting from the Administrative Department at First Jordan
Executive University of Jordan Investment Company
Officer 1992 -from 2007-2011 Executive Vice President for
As of Financial and Administrative Affairs of MGC
09/1/2014 Contracting Company - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
-from 2007 - 2001 Financial Controller and
Director of Human Resources Department(Dar Al
dawa)
Assistant CEO -Practical experiences:
Thabet Fakhri as of 1/1/2024 | Certified Human Resources | -From July 2022 until now Chief Commercial office
Suleiman Manager Certificate in Joran Decapolis properties
Khasawneh CEO of the 2010 -from 2008 until June 2022 Head of Human
Date of hiring: Commercial Human Capital Practitioner | Resources Department - Jordan Decapolis
2008/7/27 Department Accreditation Properties
Date of Birth: From Bachelor of Information From 2006 - 2007 HR Specialist Civilian Police Int—.
1983/4/25 1/7/2021 Technology, University of | -From 2005-2006 HR Analyst - DynCorp
Jordan 2005 International
-Secretary and member of the board of directors
and a board of directors in several companies
Osama Ali Abdullah Head of the -Practical experiences:
Muhammad Shareholders’ Bachelor's degree in -From 1994 until now, Head of the Shareholders
Date of hiring: affairs programming, analysis and | Department - Jordan Decapolis Real Estate
1994/6/7 department design of information Company
Date of Birth: systems -He also held several administrative positions in the
1971/5/12 Secretary of Mu’tah University 1993 company, including the head of the information

the Board of
Directors until
14-1-2025

systems department, the equity investment
department, and the head of government and legal
affairs.

-Secretary and member of the board of directors
and a board of directors in several companies.
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Riyad Anwar Riyad | Secretary of Bachelor of law -Practical Experiences:
Al Saoudi the Board of Petra university- Jordan -From 2024 until now, lawyer in the office of Mr.
Directors from Osama Al-Sukkari & Partners
14-1-2025 -From 2023 — until now Legal Advisor to the Board

of Directors of the Petra University Alumni Club
-From 2020-2023 Trainee Lawyer at the Office of
Mr. Osama Al-Sukkari & Partners

Fourth clause: The names of the major shareholders and the number of shares owned
by each of them compared to the previous year

Number of Shares
Number LELL 2024 Share 2023 Share

1 Mr. Ammar Mahmoud Abdel Qader 41,950,782 %89.318 41,950,782 %89.318
Abu Namous

Fifth clause: the competitive position of the company

The company works in the real estate field in the Jordanian market, where this field is
subject to great competition, and all companies related to commercial real estate
development and tourism development are considered Competitors.

The company's share of the local market cannot be determined, nor can the
company's competitive position be determined.

Sixth clause:
There is no accreditation for major local or external suppliers or clients, who make up

10% or more of the total purchases and / or sales

Seventh clause:

There is no government protection or privileges enjoyed by the company or any of its
products under laws and regulations, and there are no patents or franchises enjoyed

by the company.

Eighth Clause

There are no decisions issued by the government or international organizations or
others that have a material impact on the company's work, products, and
competitiveness, and are not subject to international quality standards.

Ninth clause
A- The organizational structure of the company according to the attached
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diagram:

Organization Structure

B - The number of employees of the company and its subsidiaries is (40) employees.

C- Categories of employees and their qualifications

Academic Degree Jordan Ahyaa Amman Eagle

Decapolis International
Properties Group
Employees

Masters Degree 1 - -

Bachelor Degree 5 3 1

Diploma 2 1 1

High School 1 - 1

Not Graduated from High - 3 21

School

Total Employees 9 7 24

Some of the subsidiary companies were served by the parent company’s staff during
the year 2024.
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C-Training programs for company employees:
The company did not engage any of its employees in a training program.

Tenth clause:

There are no risks that the company may be exposed to during the subsequent
financial year and have a material impact on it.

Eleventh Clause: the achievements of the company

The company continued to practice its business during the year 2024 and maintained the
level of revenues from its main activities of selling, renting and managing real estate
despite the difficult economic conditions,

The results of the work are as follows:

-Revenues from Operations: 667,062 JOD

-Gross Profit: 136,854 JOD

Twelfth clause:
There is no financial impact of operations of a non-recurring nature that occurred
during the financial year and do not fall within the main activity of the company.

Thirteenth Clause:

Time series of Profits, dividends, net shareholders' equity and securities prices for the
last five years.

Year Net Profit(loss) Before Dividends Net Shareholders Stock Closing price
taxes and Provisions Equity

2024 (235,731) - 26,811,100 0.26

2023 (1,163,494) - 29,591,172 0.27

2022 (1,634,883) - 30,753,625 0.31

2021 (1,255,425) - 32,382,849 0.48

2020 (2,966,185) - 33,491,665 0.33

-There are no cash dividends or bonus shares distributed during the year, and there is
no decision to do so.
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Fourteenth clause: Analysis of the company's financial position and the results of

its business during the financial year:

Percentage 2024 2023
Gross Margin Ratio 21% 19%
Return on assets (0%) (1%)
Return on Equity (1%) (2%)
Current Ratio 1.11 1.12
Debt Ratio 41% 39%
Equity Ratio 59% 61%
Price to Earnings Ratio (52.00) (10.8)
Book Value Per Share 0.96 JD 1.02ID

Fifteenth clause: Important future developments and the future plan of the

company

The company looks forward to intensifying its efforts in attracting viable investment

opportunities:

24—

The company aims to intensifying its efforts in attracting valuable investment
opportunities.

Continuing to modernize and develop its existing real estate investments.
The company works to develop means of marketing for lands and real estate.
The company works to develop its services in managing real estate projects.
Follow-up of implementation on existing projects.
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Sixteenth Clause: Audit fees

A- The fees of the external auditor amounted to the following:

company 2024 2023
Jordan Decapolis Properties 8,700 8,700
Audit fees for subsidiaries:

The Company's name 2024 2023
Jordan Dubai Properties land Development 232 700
Eagle International inv. Group 348 348
Aman Jordan Decapolis for Tourism Investments 290 290
South Dead Sea Development for Specialized Resorts 522 450
Jordan Eye Resorts 232 232
Jordan Dubai For Specialized Resorts 464 464
Ahyaa Amman Real Estate Development 1,508 1,508
Ahyaa Amman Hotel Investments 464 464

Seventeenth Clause

A- Number of securities owned by members of the Board of Directors:

L Number of Shares
Name Nationality
Position 2024 2023
Budapest for Commecial Investments Co. . )
Jordanian Chairman of Board of 8,650 8,650
-1 | Represented BY Mr. Ammar Mahmoud . .
. Jordanian Directors 41,950,782 41,950,782
Abdulgader Abu Namous - Chairman
Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri . Vice Chairman-
-2 Jordanian 5,100 100
CEO Member
-3 | Mr. Taj Ammar Mahmoud Abu Namous Jordanian Member 5,000 -
-4 | Mr. Mahmoud salem abu Assaf Jordanian Member 5,000 -
Mr. Osama Ali Abdulla Mohammad .
-5 . Jordanian Member 5,198 -
(Head OF the Shareholders’ Affairs Dept.))
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Number of securities owned by members of the previous board of Directors
(Dissolved on 24-12-2024):

L Number of Shares
Name Nationality
Position 2024 2023
] , ] Chairman of Board of
-1 | Mr. Nidal Yahya M'hamed AlSaqgrat Jordanian ] 5,000 5,000
Directors
Mr. Walid Muhammad Jamil Al-Jamal . . .
-2 Jordanian Vice Chairman-Member | 5,000 5,000
(CEO/ General Manager)
-3 | Mr. Nidal Hassan Abdullah Abu Ali Jordanian Member 5,000 5,000
-4 | Mr. Tarig Abdul-Malik Younis Younes Jordanian Member 5,000 5,000
Mr. Thabet Fakhri Suleiman Al-Khasawneh .
-5 . ] . ] Jordanian Member 5,000 5,000
(Assistant CEO - Chief Commercial Officer)

B — Number of shares owned by the executive management as in the above
Schedules in the paragraph A above:

e Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri : Vice chairman of the board of directors as of 24-12-2024 (5,100 Shares)
e  Mr. Osama Ali Abdulla Mohammad : Member of the board of directors as of 14-1-2025 (5,198 shares)

e Mr.Walid Muhammad Jamil Al-Jamal : Vice chairman of the board of directors until 24-12-2024 (5,000 Shares)
e Mr.Thabet Fakhri Suleiman Al-Khasawneh : Member of the board of directors until 24-12-2024 (5,000 shares)

C - There are no shares owned by relatives of members of the board of directors and
relatives of persons of senior executive management.

D - There are no securities owned by companies controlled by members of the board
of directors, senior management persons, or any of their relatives.
*Except for the subsidiary Company Al-Nisr Investment Group which owns
211,517 shares as mentioned in the second item.

Eighteenth Clause

A- Remunerations and benefits enjoyed by the Chairman or members of the Board of
Directors.

B - benefits and rewards enjoyed by persons of higher executive management:
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Name Walid_Muhammad Thabet Fakhri Suleiman Osama Ali Abdullah
Jamil Al-Jamal Khasawneh Muhammad
_ Head of shareholder
2025
Annual Salaries 63,036 37,330 18,490
Transportation - 1,800 -
cellular 1,800 1,800 -
Bonus - 3,322 -
Vacation allowance - 1,342 -
Educational grants - 1392 -
Board Membership 4,200 4,200 2,400
Total 69,036 51,186 20,890

Nineteenth Clause

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries made any donations during 2024.

Twentieth Clause

There are no contracts, projects, or engagements that the company entered into with
subsidiary, sister or allied companies, the chairman of the board of directors, the
members of the board, the general manager, or any employee of the company or

their relatives.

Twenty-first clause

A- The company's contribution to the service of the environment :
Environmental matters are taken into consideration through all the projects on which
the company is engaged, where the studies and procedures necessary to take into
account all environmental matters have been made in coordination with the

authorities.

B- The company's contribution to serving the local community:
The South Dead Sea Development Company owns a tourism project in the Dead Sea
area, through which tourism will be stimulated, the area developed and local
community served.

Twenty-second clause

The number of Board of Directors sessions for Jordan Decapolis Properties for the
year 2024 were 9 sessions.
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Confirmation

The Board of Directors declares that there are no material matters that may affect
the continuity of the company during the next financial year.

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the financial
statements and for providing an effective control system in the company.

Board of directors

Name

Position

Signature

Mr. Ammar Mahmoud Abdulgader Abu
Namous

Chairman of Board of
Directors

e

i

Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri

Vice Chairman of the

rl

Board / e
..---'.r-""'f:"'f
.._-_-f___}.;_f_,,-'
Mr. Taj Ammar Mahmoud Abu Namous member
Mr. Mahmoud Salem Hussain Abu Assaf member
Mr. Osama Ali Abdulla Muhammad member

The Chairman, CEO and Chief accountant acknowledge the validity, accuracy and
completeness of the information and data contained in the 2024 annual report.

Chief Accountant
Lana Marwan Qabbani

Chief Executive Officer
Tareq Nael Al Hmmouri

Chairman
Ammar Mahmoud
Abu Namous

* N —
= (P g
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Governance Report

A- Information and details related to the application of the provisions of the
company's corporate governance instructions and rules.
The Board of Directors believes in the importance of corporate governance
instructions and rules and their role in developing and improving the performance
and results of the company’s business, and the Board is largely committed to
implementing the mandatory corporate governance provisions and instructions.

B- Names of the current and resigned members of the board of directors during
the year, and determining whether the member is executive or non-executive,
independent or non-independent.

Current members: The current board of Directors elected on 24/12/2024.

Member

Legal
Representative's
Name

Membership Type

Budapest Commercial Investment Co.
(Chairman)
(Non-executive/Non-independent)

Mr. Ammar
Mahmoud
Abdulgader Abu
Namous

Non-executive/Non-
independent

Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri- Vice
chairman
(Executive/Non-independent)

Executive/Non-independent

Mr. Taj Ammar Mahmoud Abu Namous
(Non-executive/Non-independent)

Non-executive/Non-
independent

Mr. Mahmoud Salem Hussain Abu Assaf
(Non-executive/independent)

Non-executive/independent

Mr. Osama Ali Abdulla Muhammad
(Executive/Non-independent)

Executive/Non-independent

The previous board of directors dissolved on 24-12-2024

Member

Legal
Representative's
Name

Membership Type

Nidal Yahya Muhammad Al-Saqrat
(Non-executive/independent)

Non-executive/independent

Walid Muhammad Jamil Al-Jamal
(Executive/Non-independent)

Executive/Non-independent
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Nidal Hassan Abdullah Abu Ali | =mmmmmmmeeee Non-executive/independent
(Non-executive/independent)
Tarig Abdul Malik Younes | smmemmeeeeees Non-executive/independent
(Non-executive/independent)
Thabet Fakhri Sulaiman Khasawneh |  ——-emmmmmmn Executive/Non-independent
(Executive/Non-independent)

Resigned Members:
There are no resigned members during the year 2024.

C- Names of representatives of members of the board of directors, and determining
whether the representative is an executive, non-executive, independent or non-
independent.

Shown in the table in paragraph (b) previously

D- Names and Job Titles of the executive management positions in the company.

Name Position
Mr . Tareq Nael Mansour Al Hammouri CEO as of 15/1/2025
Walid Mohammad Jamil Al Jamal CEO until 31/12/2024
Thabet Fakhri Suliman Khasawneh Assistant CEO — CCO until
31/3/2025
Osama Ali Abdullah Mohammad Head of Shareholders Dept.

E - All memberships of boards of directors occupied by a member of the board of
directors in public joint-stock companies, if any.

Member Name Board Membership
Walid Mohammad Jamil Al Jamal -Bank of Jordan
Board member until 24-12-2024 - Medgulf Insurance Co. (Jordan)

F- The name of the corporate governance liaison officer.
Mr. Osama Ali Abdullah Muhammad

G- Names of the committees emanating from the board of directors.
1. Audit Committee
2. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
3. Governance Committee
4. Risk Management Committee
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H- Name of the Chairman and members of the Audit Committee and a summary of
their qualifications and experiences related to financial or accounting matters.

Name

Educational Certificates

Personal Biography

Mr. Taj Ammar
Mahmoud

Bachelor of Commercial

and Real Estate Law

University of Bristol, UK
2022

Practical experiences:

- From 2022 to 2024, Investment Advisor to Julius
Baer Bank, Switzerland.

- From 2021 to 2022, Trainee at the Sharif Al-Zoubi
Law Firm.

- Owner of several investment and real estate
companies.

Member of the Board of Directors & Management
Committee of several companies.

Mr. Tareq Nael
Mansour Al
Hammouri

Bachelor of software
engineering -2005

Practical experiences:

- From January 2025 until now: CEO of Jordan
Decapolis Properties

-15 years of experience in the public sector (project
management and operation, and information
security and protection management in the
Jordanian e-government)

-General Manager of Triada International Company
-General Manager of Budapest Commercial
Investments Company

-Member of the Board of Directors and
Management Committees of several companies

Mr. Mahmoud Salem
Hussain Abu Assaf

1987 Bachelor of Science in
Mechanical Engineering
1985 Bachelor of Science in
Civil Engineering

Trine University,Angola,
Indiana, USA

Practical experiences:

- From 1987 to present: Construction contractors
in the United States and Jordan.

Member of the board of directors
management committees of several companies.

and
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The Previous Audit Committee until 24-12-2024

Name

Educational Certificates

Personal Biography

Tariq Abdel Malik
Younes Younes
Chairman of the
committee

MBA from Manchester
Business School 1994
Bachelor of Accounting
from the University of
Jordan 1993

Practical experiences:

-From 2012 Chairman of the Board of Directors
of the Future Music Company

-From 2015 Member of the Board of Directors
of the Eastern Mediterranean Company for
Printing Inks

-Since 2008 Partner / Representative of Jordan
- Global Business Peru - Dubai

- From 2012 — 20080perations Manager -
Emaar Investments — Dubai

-From 2004-2008 Business Development
Manager for Al Rajhi Investment Group -
United Arab Emirates

-From 1995-2004 Director of Business
Development and General Manager of East
Mediterranean Investment Company - Jordan

Nidal Yahya
Muhammed Al-
Sagrat

MA in Surveying and
Geodesy, University of
Nottingham 1997
Bachelor of Surveying
and Geodesy Engineering
from the French
Geographical Institute
1982

Practical experiences:

-More than 31 years of experience in various
positions in the Department of Lands and
Surveys and the Royal Geographical Center.
-From 2010-2014 Director General of the
Department of Land and Survey

-Deputy Director General of the Royal
Geographical Center

Nidal Hassan Abu
Ali

Accounting Diploma
1984
Jordan

Practical experiences:

-From 2012 until now, Chief Financial Officer of
Al-Rashad Industrial Investments Co.

- From 2009 - 2012 Chief Financial Officer,
Pharaoh Investment Group Limited

-From 2009-1999 Chief Financial Officer of
Jordan Ma’in Resort Company
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I- The name of the chairperson and members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, the Governance Committee, and the Risk Management Committee

position Risk Management Governance Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
President Mr. Taj Ammar Mr. Taj Ammar Mr. Taj Ammar
Mahmoud Mahmoud Mahmoud
Mr. Tareq Nael Mr. Tareq Nael Mr. Tareq Nael Mansour
Member Mansour Al Mansour Al Al Hammouri
Hammouri Hammouri
Mr. Mahmoud Salem | Mr. Mahmoud Salem | Mr. Mahmoud Salem
Member Hussain Abu Assaf Hussain Abu Assaf Hussain Abu Assaf

J- The number of meetings of each of the committees during the year, with a
statement of the members present.

e Audit Committee
The Audit Committee held 5 meetings and members presentation as follows:

Member metstting 2nd meeting | 3rd meeting | 4th meeting | 5th meeting
14/3/2024 | 31/3/2024 30/4/2024 30/7/2024 29/10/2024
Tarig Abdul Malik Younes Present Present Present Present Present
Nidal Yahya Al-Sagrat Present Present Present Present Present
Nidal Hassan Abu Ali Present Present Present Present Present
e Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings and

member’s attendance as follows:

1st :
Member meeting 2nd meeting
38/3/2024 3/11/2024
Nidal Yahya Al-Sagrat Present Present
Tarig Abdul Malik Younes Present Present
Nidal Hassan Abu Ali Present Present
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e Governance Committee
The Governance Committee held 2 meetings and members’ attendance as

follows:
1st .
Member meeting 2nd meeting
21/3/2024 | 3/11/2024
Nidal Yahya Al-Sagrat Present Present
Tarig Abdul Malik Younes Present Present
Nidal Hassan Abu Ali Present Present

e Risk management Committee
The Risk Management Committee held 2 meetings and member’s attendance

as follows:
1st .
Member meeting 2nd meeting
28/4/2024 | 3/11/2024
Nidal Yahya Al-Sagrat Present Present
Tarig Abdul Malik Younes Present Present
Nidal Hassan Abu Ali Present Present

K- The number of meetings of the audit committee with the external auditor during

the year.
The Audit Committee met with the external auditor once during the year.

L - The number of board meetings during the year with an indication of the members

present.
The Board of Directors held nine meetings and the attendance as follows:
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. Walid Thabet
Meeting Date Tarll\ja'ﬁidu' Nidal Yahya [ Nidal Has_san Muha_mmad Falfhri
Younes Al-Sagrat Abu Ali Jamil Al- Suleiman
Jamal Khasawneh
1st meeting 10/1/2024 Present Present Present Present Not member
2nd meeting 14/3/2024 Present Present Present Present Not member
3rd meeting 20/3/2024 Present Present Present Present Not member
4th meeting 31/3/2024 Present Present Present Present Not member
5th meeting 30/4/2024 Present Present Present Present Present
6th meeting 6/6/2024 Present Present Present Present Present
7th meeting 30/7/2024 Present Present Present Present Present
8th meeting 29/10/2024 Present Present Present Present Present
9th meeting 19/12/2024 Present Present Present Present Present

The Chairman of the Board of Directors acknowledges the correctness and
completeness of the information and data contained in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Chairman of the Board
MR. Ammar Mahmoud Abu Namous
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Council Recommendations:

N
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Reading the minutes of the previous general assembly meeting

Reading the speech of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Discussing and adopting the twenty-first report of the Board of Directors and
the future plan.

Hearing the auditors’ report for the financial year ending on December 31, 2024.
Discussing and approving the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal
year 2024, and relieving the members of the Board of Directors from
responsibility for the fiscal year 2024.

. Approving the election of Mr. Osama Ali Abdullah Mohammed as member of

the board of directors taking the place of the resigned member Mr. Ammar
Mahmoud Abdulqgadir Abu Namous .

Electing the company’s auditors for the fiscal year 2025 and determining their
fees.

. Any other matters proposed by the General Assembly in accordance with the

provisions of the law.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
AMMAN - JORDAN

Qualified opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jordan Decapolis Properties Group as of 31 December 2024,
which comprise the consolidated statement of the financial position as of 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, and consolidated statement cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the basis of qualified opinion paragraph, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Jordan Decapolis
Properties Group as at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for qualified opinion

1. As disclosed in note (22) of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, non-current assets held for sale
with an amount of 33 058 044 JD as of 31 December 2024 and 2023, and its related liabilities with an amount of
29457 128 ID as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 are attributable to Muniah for Specialized Tourism Company which
is currently under voluntarily liquidation. We have not been provided with sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
about these balances, accordingly we were unable to determine whether any necessary adjustments are required
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements related to this matter.

2. As disclosed in note (7) of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, an investment in associate
represents the group's share in Madaen Al-Shorouq Investment and Real estate Development Company by 30.03%,
where the investment balance amounted to 2 883 367 JD as of 31 December 2024, we were unable to determine
whether there is a need to record additional impairment provisions since there are no updated audited financial
statements or reliable financial information, hence we were unable to determine whether any necessary
adjustments are required to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

3. Asdisclosed in note (8) of the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income represents shares
investment in Saraya Agaba for Real Estate Development Company net amounted to 974 225 JD as of 31 December
2024 (2023: 3 503 711 JD). We have not been provided with the related fair value study; accordingly, we have not
been able to determine the effect of change in fair value, and we have not obtained sufficient and appropriate
review evidence, Noting that during the year the management reduced the cost of the investment by 2 529 486 JD
according to available information about the fair value of this investment, accordingly we were unable to determine
whether any necessary adjustments are required to the accompanying condensed consolidated interim financial
statements related to this matter.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD
ASSURANCE | TAX | CONSULTING

RSM Jordan is amember of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM s the trading name used by the members of the RSM network
Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right
The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements in
Jordan that are relevant to our audit of the Group consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters:

1. Revenue recognition

The total Operating revenue is 667 062 JD for the year ended 31 December 2024, Operating revenue is an important
determent of the group's profitability in addition, there is a risk of improper rental property recognition, particularly
with regard to revenue recognition at the cut-off date.

Scope of Audit to Address Risks

Our audit procedures included evaluating the group's revenue recognition accounting policies and assessing compliance
with the policies in terms of international financial reporting standards (IFRSs). We tested the group's controls over
rental property revenue recognition and key controls in the revenue cycle. We also selected a representative sample
and tested premiums written at either side of the rental property revenue cutoff date.

2. Investment Properties, Lands under development and Projects under construction

These items represent 48.6% of the Groups’ assets. Moreover, the Group should re-evaluate its properties when
preparing the consolidated financial statements to determine their fair value, in line with the requirements of the
International Financial Reporting Standards. Accordingly, the Group relies on independent real estate experts to
determine the fair value of those investments as of December 31, 2024 based on evaluations conducted during 2024,
2023 and 2022 and reflect any impairment in their value in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
that period. Consequently, these assets were significant to our audit.

Scope of Audit to Address Risks

The followed audit procedures Included understanding the procedures applied by the Group in evaluating investment
properties, Lands under development and Projects under constructions and evaluating the reasonableness of the
judgments based on the evaluation of three real estate experts, calculating the fair value of those average evaluations,
recording any impairment in their value in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, if any, and reviewing
the appropriateness of the disclosure on the fair value of investment properties.

Other matter

Al-Nisr International Investment Group Company (Subsidiary Company) has purchased 211 517 shares in Jordan
Decapolis Properties Company (Parent Company) amounted to 269 558 JD as of 31 December 2024 which is not in
compliance with Jordan Securities Commission instructions.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the information stated in the
Annual Report and does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual
Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. Our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
when it becomes available to us and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the group ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risk, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than the one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group
internal control

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
evidenced obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the group ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation; structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the consolidated financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit and we remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any material deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law and regulations preclude public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Jordan Decapolis Properties Group maintains proper accounting records during 2024, duly organized and in line with
the accompanying consolidated financial statements, and we recommend that they be approved by the General
Assembly shareholders these financial statements, taking into consideration the possible effect of what is mentioned
under the "Basis for Qualified Opinion" section.

Amman - Jordan Adel Ayoub
3 April 2025 License No. 499




JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2024

Assets

Non - Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment

Lands under development and Projects under construction
Investments properties

Intangible assets

Investment in associate

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Total Non - Current Assets

Current Assets

checks under collection

Accounts receivable

Other debit balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Discontinued operations assets
Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Statutory reserve

Treasury stocks

Cumulative change in fair value
Accumulated losses

Total Group's shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Total Equity

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Due to related parties

Other credit balances

Income tax and national contribution provision
Deferred revenues

Discontinued operations related liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Notes JD JD
3 18 276 18 772
4 18 164 136 18 164 136
5 18984 118 19 122 747
6 696 670 696 670
7 2 883 367 2 888 692
8 974 225 3503711
41720792 44 394728
9 27 472 20292
10 417 584 218 974
11 88 975 89 167
12 1177 305 1383172
1711336 1711605
22 33 058 044 33 058 044
34 769 380 34 769 649
76 490 172 79 164 377
13

46 967 755 46 967 755
1054184 1043250
(269 558) (269 558)
(2 529 486) -
(18 411 795) (18 150 275)
26 811 100 29591172
18 499 197 18 489 453
45 310 297 48 080 625
14 248 005 262 196
27 540 540 462 462
15 569 203 573279
16 2228 7 251
362771 321436
1722747 1626 624
22 29457 128 29457 128
31229 875 31083 752
76 490 172 79 164 377

The accompanying notes from 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
31 DECEMBER 2024

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Notes JD JD

Revenues from properties lease 17 588 127 572 190
Properties and projects management revenues 78 935 76 511
Properties operating expenses 18 (238 902) (240 855)
Properties and projects management costs (152 517) (147 855)
Operating depreciation 5 (138 789) (138 766)
Gross profit 136 854 121 225
Administrative expenses 19 (444 960) (437 682)
Administrative depreciation 3 (3021) (4134)
Impairment of Intangible assets 6 - (911 403)
Group's share from associate company results 7 (5325) 24 332
Expected credit loss provision 10 - (18 336)
Interest revenues 65 263 62 444
Expected Credit Loss Provision Recovery 10 11700 -
Other revenues 3758 60
Net loss for the year before tax (235 731) (1163 494)
Income tax and national contribution 16 (5111) (7 251)
Loss and other comprehensive income for the year (240 842) (1170 745)
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Group’s Shareholders (250 586) (1162 453)
Non - Controlling interests 9744 (8292)

(240 842) (1170 745)
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year 20 (0.005) (0.025)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
31 DECEMBER 2024

31 December

31 December

Loss and comprehensive income for the year

Other comprehensive income items:
Cumulative change in fair value
Loss and other comprehensive income for the year

Other comprehensive income attributable to:
Group’s Shareholders
Non - Controlling interests

2024 2023
Notes JD JD

(240 842) (1170 745)
(2 529 486) -
(2770 328) (1170 745)
(2780 072) (1 162 453)
9744 (8 292)
(2770 328) (1170 745)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

31 DECEMBER 2024

1 January 2023

Loss and comprehensive income for the year
Transferred

31 December 2023

Loss and comprehensive income for the year
Cumulative change in fair value

Transferred

31 December 2024

Cumulative Non-
Share Statutory Treasury change in fair Accumulated controlling
capital reserve stocks value losses Total interests Total equity
JD D JD JD JD JD JD JD
46 967 755 1 035 002 (269 558) - (16 979 574) 30 753 625 18 497 745 49 251 370
- - - - (1162 453) (1162 453) (8292) (1170 745)
- 8248 - - (8 248) - - -
46 967 755 1043 250 (269 558) - (18 150 275) 29591172 18 489 453 48 080 625
- - - - (250 586) (250 586) 9744 (240 842)
- - - (2 529 486) - (2 529 486) - (2 529 486)
- 10934 - - (10934) - - -
46 967 755 1054 184 (269 558) (2 529 486) (18 411 795) 26 811 100 18 499 197 45 310 297

The accompanying notes from 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
31 DECEMBER 2024

Operating activities

Net loss for the year before tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciations

Impairment of Intangible assets

Group's share of associate

Expected credit loss provision

Expected Credit Loss Provision Recovery
Interest revenues

Gain from sale of Property, plant and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Checks under collection

Accounts receivable

Other debit balances

Other credit balances

Deferred revenues

Accounts payable

Paid income tax

Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Received from sale of Property, plant and equipment

Investments properties

Interest received

Net cash from (used in) investing activities
Financing activities

Due from related parties

Net cash from financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the ending of the year

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
D D

(235 731) (1163 494)
141 810 142 900
- 911 403
5325 (24 332)
- 18 336
(11 700) -
(65 263) (62 444)
- (60)
(7 180) 5572
(186 910) (63 928)
7163 (4318)
(4 076) 2567
41335 28417
(14 191) (22 204)
(10 134) (527)
(339 552) (232 112)
(2 525) (1270)
- 674
(160) (19 680)
58 292 56 344
55 607 36 068
78078 70 008
78 078 70 008
(205 867) (126 036)
1383172 1509 208
1177305 1383172

The accompanying notes from 1 to 30 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

1) General

On May 16, 2000, Real Estate Investment Company (Agarco) (P.S.C) and the Centralized General Trading Enterprise
(P.S.C) agreed to merge into one company, which was registered as a public shareholding company under registration
No. (169) under the name of Real Estate Investment Trading Company (Aqgarco). The merge of the two companies was
taken into consideration on 1 January 2000 for the purpose of the consolidated financial statements preparation .

The extraordinary general assembly has approved in its meeting held on 3 April 2008, to change the name of the
Company to become Jordan Dubai Properties Company Instead of Real Estate Investment Trading Company (Aqgarco).
Also, during the year 2012, the Company's name was changed again from Jordan Dubai Properties Company to Jordan
Decapolis Properties Company .

The principal activities of the Company are to invest through acquiring plots of land, investment properties, general
trading, and leasing stores for cooling, storage and real estate projects management. The activities of the Company have
been amended during 2008 to include the establishment of different types of companies and acquiring shares and stocks
in the standing companies .

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are leasing, managing and establishment of real estate projects, in addition to
investing in touristic projects .

The Group's headquarter is located in Al-Abdali Amman-Jordan .

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors in its meeting on
3 April 2025 and are subject to the approval of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

2) Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting policies applied by the Company in these financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024,
are the same as those applied by the Company in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, except
for the following new International Financial Reporting Standards or amendments that become effective on an annual
reporting year beginning on January 1, 2024:

IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
- On 31 October 2022, the IASB issued 'Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)' to clarify how
conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification
of a liability.
v" The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, and did not have a significant
effect on the Company consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

- On 22 September 2022, the IASB issued 'Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)' with
amendments that clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the
requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale.

v' The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, and did not have a significant
effect on the Company consolidated financial statements.

IAS 7 AND IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
- 0On 25 May 2023, the IASB issued 'Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7) that ask entities
to provide qualitative and quantitative information about supplier finance arrangements.
v" The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, and did not have a
significant effect on the Company consolidated financial statements.
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JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

Basis of preparation of the financial statement
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle, except for financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income which are stated at fair value as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Jordanian Dinar, which is the functional currency of the group.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries where
the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiaries to obtain benefits from
their activities. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the company
using consistent accounting policies. All balances, transactions, income, and expenses between the Company and its
subsidiaries are eliminated.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The results of operations of the subsidiaries are consolidated in the income statements from the acquisition date, which
is the date on which control over subsidiaries is transferred to the Company. The results of operation of the disposed
subsidiaries are consolidated in the income statement to the disposal date, which is the date on which the Company
loses control over the subsidiaries.

The Company owns the following subsidiaries:

Nature of Ownership percentage
Activity 2024 2023
- Ahyaa Amman for Real Estate Rehabilitation and Development Company Property %62.89 %62.89
- Ahyaa Amman for Hotel Investments Company Tourism %62.89 %62.89
- Jordan Dubai Properties Company for Lands Development Property %100 %100
- Al-Niser International Investment Group Property %100 %100
- Jordan Eye for Tourism Resorts Company and its subsidiaries: Tourism %100 %100
- Aman Jordan Decapolis for Tourism Investments Company Tourism %100 %100
- Muniah for Specialized Resorts Company * Tourism %74 %74
- Jordan Dubai Specialized Resorts Company Tourism %73 %73
- South of The Dead Sea Development for Specialized Resorts Company ~ Tourism %51 %51

* The Board of Directors of Muniah for Specialized Resorts Company decided in their meeting held on March 29, 2016
to liquidate the company, accordingly the Company's assets and liabilities were re-classified as discontinued operations
in accordance with IFRS 5.

The operations' results of the subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated Profit or Loss and other comprehensive
income statement as of the date of its acquisition and this is the date that the actual transmission of the company's
Control on the subsidiary.

Segment reporting
Business segments represent distinguishable components of the Group that are engaged in providing products or

services which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments and are measured based
on the reports sent to the chief operating decision maker.

Geographical segments are associated to products and services provided within a particular economic environment,
which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other economic environments.

13



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

Property, plant and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss in Its value,
moreover Property and Equipment (except for land) are depreciated according to the straight- line method over the
estimated useful lives when ready for use of these assets using the rates:

%
Furniture 10
Decorations 15
Machinery and equipment 15
Vehicles 15
Computer devices and systems 20

When the carrying amount of property and equipment exceeds their recoverable value, assets are written down and
impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed at the end of each year, in case the expected useful life is
different from what was determined before the change in estimate is recorded in the following years being a change in
estimates.

Property and equipment are derecognized when disposed or when there is no expected future benefit from their use.

Lands under development and projects under construction

Lands under development and projects under construction are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value,
the costs include expenditures incurred on projects under construction, conversion costs and other costs incurred on
such project. Projects under construction are not depreciated till the related assets are ready for use or sale.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, less the estimate selling
expenses.

Investments properties

Investments properties are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment in their value and are
disclosed their fair value. Furthermore, these Investments are depreciated based on their useful lives at an annual rate
of 2%. Any Impairment In their value is taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income, while operating
revenues and expenses relating to this investment are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
Income.

If the fair value of the Investments for which an Impairment provision has been taken in the previous periods increases,
the previously recorded are recovered impairment losses at no more than their cost.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired through the acquisition of subsidiaries are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisitor.

The estimated useful life of these assets is reviewed periodically and any adjustments are made to subsequent periods.

Investment in Associate

Associate is those in which the Group exerts significant influence over the financial and operating policy decisions, and
in which the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investment in associated Group is accounted for according to the equity method.

Transactions and balances between the Group up and the associate is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s ownership
in the associate.

14



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive Income
These financial assets represent the investments in equity instruments held for the long term.

These financial assets are recognized at fair value plus transaction costs at purchase date and are subsequently
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within owner’s equity including the
changes in fair value resulting from translation of non-monetary assets stated in foreign currency. Gain or loss from the
sale of these investments or part of them should be recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and within owner’s equity and the balance of the revaluation reserve for these assets should be transferred directly to
the retained earnings not to the consolidated statement of income.

Dividends are recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is stated at net realizable value after deducting a provision for expected credit loss.

A provision for expected credit loss is booked when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to recover
whole or part of the due amounts at the end of the year. When the group collects previously written-off debts, it
recognizes the collected amounts in other revenues in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive
Income. Furthermore, revenue and commission from expected credit loss are suspended and recognized as revenue
upon collection.

Moreover, debts are written-off when they become uncollectible are derecognized

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on, and balances at banks and deposits at banks maturing within three months,
less bank overdrafts and restricted balances.

Related parties
Transactions with related parties represent transfer of resources, services, or obligations between related parties. Terms

and conditions relating to related party transactions are approved by management.

Income Tax and National Contribution
Income tax expenses represent current and deferred taxes for the year.

Income tax expense is measured based on taxable income. Taxable income differs from income reported in the
financial statements, as the latter includes non-taxable revenue, tax expenses not deductible in the current year but
deductible in subsequent years, accumulated losses approved by tax authorities and items not accepted for tax
purposes or subject to tax.

Taxes are calculated based on the enacted tax rates according to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of
The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Deferred taxes are Taxes expected to be incurred or recovered as a result of temporary timing differences between
the value of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax basis. Deferred taxes are
calculated based on the liability method, and according to the rates expected to be enacted when it is anticipated that
the liability will be settled or when tax assets are recognized.

Trade payables and Accruals

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement of financial

position only when there is a legal right to offset the recognized amounts, and the group intends to either settle them
on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously

15



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the group has an obligation as of the date of the consolidated financial statements as
a result of past events, the obligation is likely to be settled, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnity

The required provision for end-of-service indemnity for the year is recorded in the consolidated statement of income
while payments to departing employees are deducted from the provision amount, Indemnities paid in excess of the
provision is taken to the consolidated statement of income upon payment while the required provision for end-of-
service indemnities for the year is recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Provision for employees' Leave
Provision for employees' Leave is recorded in accordance with internal group instructions and amounts are
transferred to this allowance based on the accrual basis.

Recoghnition of Financial Assets Date
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trading date (which is the date on which the group
commits itself to purchase or sell the asset).

Impairment in Financial Assets

The Group reviews the value of financial assets on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position in order

to determine if there are any indications of impairment in their value individually or in the form of a portfolio, in case

such indications exist the recoverable value is estimated so as to determine the impairment loss.

Impairment is determined as follows:

e The impairment in the financial assets recorded at amortized cost is determined on the basis of the present value of
the expected cash flows discounted at the original interest rate.

o The impairment in the financial assets at cost is determined by the difference between book value and the present
value of the expected future cash flows discounted in effective market price on any other similar financial assets.

Impairment is recorded in the consolidated statement of income as does any surplus that occurs in subsequent years

that is due to a previous impairment of the financial assets in the consolidated statement of income.
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Revenue recognition and Expense realization

Revenues are recognized based on accrual basis.

The Group recognizes revenue from rendering of services in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at
the reporting date.

The stage of completion is assessed base on survey of work performed.

Rental income from investment properties is recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
IFRS 15 did not have a significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies with respect to revenue streams.

Expenses are realized based on accrual basis.

Foreign Currency
Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the

transaction.
Financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average exchange rates
prevailing on the consolidated balance sheet date and declared by the Central Bank of Jordan.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

Accounting estimates

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the application of the accounting policies require the Group’s
management to perform assessments and assumptions that affect the amounts of financial assets, financial liabilities,
and fair value reserve and to disclose contingent liabilities. Moreover, these assessments and assumptions affect
revenues, expenses, provisions, and changes in the fair value shown in the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income and owners’ equity. In particular, this requires the Group’s management to issue significant
judgments and assumptions to assess future cash flow amounts and their timing. Moreover, the said assessments are
necessarily based on assumptions and factors with varying degrees of consideration and uncertainty. In addition, actual
results may differ from assessments due to the changes resulting from the conditions and circumstances of those
assessments in the future.

Management believes that the assessments adopted in the consolidated financial statements are reasonable. The
details are as follows:

Management periodically reassesses the economic useful lives of tangible and intangible assets for the purpose of
calculating annual depreciation and amortization based on the general condition of these assets and the assessment
of their useful economic lives expected in the future. Impairment loss is taken to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Management frequently reviews financial assets stated at fair value or at cost to estimate any impairment in their
value. The impairment amount is taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year.

A provision is set for lawsuits raised against the group. This provision is based to an adequate legal study prepared by
the group’s legal advisors. Moreover, the study highlights potential risks that the Group may encounter in the future.
Such legal assessments are reviewed periodica

17



JORDAN DECAPOLIS PROPERTIES GROUP

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2024

3) Property, plant and equipment

Machinery Computer
and devices and
Furniture  Decorations equipment Vehicles systems Total
D D D JD JD JD

Cost
31 December 2023 165576 210997 225246 68 775 224 350 894 944
Additions - - 1690 - 835 2525
31 December 2024 165 576 210997 226 936 68 775 225185 897 469
Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2023 153 070 210 855 219 700 68 280 224 267 876172
Depreciation 1293 62 1513 97 56 3021
31 December 2024 154 363 210917 221213 68 377 224 323 879 193
Book value
31 December 2024 11 213 80 5723 398 862 18 276

Machinery Computer

and devices and
Furniture  Decorations equipment Vehicles systems Total
D D JD JD JD JD

Cost
31 December 2022 165 849 210997 224 376 68 775 224 350 894 347
Additions - - 1270 - - 1270
Disposals (273) - (400) - - (673)
31 December 2023 165 576 210997 225 246 68 775 224 350 894 944
Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2022 151791 209 690 218 167 68 182 224 267 872 097
Depreciation 1297 1165 1574 98 - 4134
Disposals (18) - (41) - - (59)
31 December 2023 153 070 210 855 219 700 68 280 224 267 876 172
Book value
31 December 2023 12 506 142 5546 495 83 18772

4) Lands under development and Projects under construction

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Land cost 16 300 112 16 300 112
Projects under construction 1864 024 1864 024
18 164 136 18 164 136

This item represents the cost of land, studies, design and construction of a tourist resort in the Dead Sea area which
owned by Dead Sea Specialized Resorts Company for the purpose of establishing tourism projects (Subsidiary Company
51%). There is no agreement to start the first stage during the next year and there is no obligation on the Group for any

party.
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5) Investments properties

Acarqo Al-nisr Agaba
Lands center* Buildings* building*  warehouses* Total
D D JD D D D
Cost
31 December 2023 13466973 3630948 1717030 5754 063 366 631 24 935 645
Additions - - 160 - - 160
31 December 2024 13466973 3630948 1717 190 5754 063 366 631 24 935 805
Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2023 - 1882203 480 689 733 886 322274 3419052
Depreciation - 52 283 35907 50 191 408 138 789
31 December 2024 - 1934486 516 596 784 077 322 682 3557 841
Impairment provision
31 December 2024 2 393 846 - - - - 2 393 846
Book value
31 December 2024 11073127 1696462 1200594 4969 986 43 949 18 984 118
Acarqo Al-nisr Agaba
Lands center* Buildings* building*  warehouses* Total
D D JD JD D D
Cost
31 December 2022 13448 443 3630948 1715 880 5754 063 366 631 24 915 965
Additions 18 530 - 1150 - - 19 680
31 December 2023 13466973 3630948 1717030 5754063 366 631 24 935 645
Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2022 - 1829920 444 805 683 695 321 866 3280286
Depreciation - 52 283 35884 50191 408 138 766
31 December 2023 - 1882203 480 689 733 886 322274 3419 052
Impairment provision
31 December 2023 2 393 846 - - - - 2 393 846
Book value
31 December 2023 11073127 1748745 1236 341 5020177 44 357 19 122 747

*These items include the cost of the land on which the commercial Agarco complex, buildings, Agaba warehouses and
Al-Niser Building are located.

The Investments properties include a building refer to Ahyaa Amman for Real Estate Rehabilitation and Development
Company (62.89% subsidiary), with a net book value of 1 255 552 JD as of December 31, 2024. During the year, the
company rented it under an operating lease contract for two years starting from July 1, 2024. This lease agreement
includes a purchase option, allowing the tenant, during the lease term, to buy the plot of land on which the leased
property and its buildings are situated, covering an area of 2411 m2, for the agreed amount of 1 500 000 JD, as stipulated
in the contract.

The fair value of investment properties as of 31 December 2024 amounted to 27 681 820 JD (2023: JD 27 714 465).

The fair value of investments properties was determined by independent real estate experts based on evaluations
conducted during 2022 and 2023, considering the impact of potential declines in market value in the updated
assessment.
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6) Intangible assets

Goodwill* Lease contracts Total
JD JD JD

Cost
31 December 2023 3551640 234 333 3785973
31 December 2024 3551640 234 333 3785973
Accumulated Amortization
31 December 2023 - 234 333 234 333
31 December 2024 - 234 333 234 333
Impairment provision
31 December 2023 2 854 970 - 2 854970
31 December 2024 2 854 970 - 2 854 970
Book value
31 December 2024 696 670 - 696 670

Goodwill* Lease contracts Total

JD JD JD

Cost
31 December 2022 3551640 234 333 3785973
31 December 2023 3551 640 234 333 3785973
Accumulated Amortization
31 December 2022 - 234 333 234 333
31 December 2023 - 234 333 234 333
Impairment provision
31 December 2022 1943567 - 1943 567
Impairment provision 911 403 - 911 403
31 December 2023 2 854 970 - 2 854 970
Book value
31 December 2023 696 670 - 696 670

*The following subsidiaries have been identified as cash-generating units from acquisition operations for goodwill
impairment test:

2024 2023
JD JD
Al-Niser International Investment Group 971187 971 187
Jordan Eye for Tourism Resorts Company 958 641 958 641
Ahyaa Amman for Real Estate Rehabilitation and Development Company 1621812 1621812
Less: goodwill impairment (2 854 970) (2 854 970)
696 670 696 670
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7) Investment in associate
This item represents the Group's investment in Madaen Al-Shorouq Investment and Real estate Development Company
as follows:

Ownership
Nature of percentage 2024 2023
Activity 2024 2023 D D
Madaen Al-Shorouq Investmentand Real - o\ 00 3003% 30.03% 2 883 367 2888 692

estate Development Company

The movement on investment in associate during the year as follows:

2024 2023
D JD
Beginning balance of the year 2 888 692 2 864 360
Group's share from associate company results * (5325) 24 332
Ending balance of the year 2 883 367 2 888 692

* The group's share from associate company results have been recognized based on unaudited financial statements.

Assets and liabilities of the associate:

2024 2023
JD JD
Non-current assets 9816 023 9930 798
Current assets 223 340 503 055
Non-current liabilities (3971 445) (4 351 485)
Current liabilities (3 895) (8 073)
Equity 6 064 023 6 074 295
Revenues 140 000 390 000
Cost of revenue (94 924) (249 944)
Other revenues 4792 7913
Administrative expenses (53 032) (54 029)
Other expenses (14 568) (12 914)
Loss and comprehensive income for the year (17 732) 81026
Ownership percentage %30.03 %30.03
Group's share from profit and comprehensive income for the year (5 325) 24 332
8) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
2024 2023
Unquoted financial assets D D
Saraya Al-Agaba for real estate development shares 974 225 3503711
9) Checks under collection
2024 2023
D JD
1-3 months 15227 12 961
4-6 months 11 345 5167
7-9 months 900 514
10-12 months - 1650
27 472 20 292
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10) Accounts receivable

Rental receivables

Trade receivables
Employee receivables
Shareholder's receivables
Other receivables

Expected credit loss provision

2024 2023
D D

1118 609 942 196
191 476 184 619
12 069 17 850
134 207 134 207
480 874 480 874
1937235 1759 746
(1519 651) (1540 772)
417 584 218974

*This item includes the net accrued amount to the group due from The Arab Bank after the decision of transfer the
Business Complex - Abdali project to the bank, according to the lawyer’s letter the group has a remaining balance
amounted 478 510 JD. During 2021 the management checked this balance with the Amman Court and informed them
that there are no dues to the group. Accordingly, the management filed a lawsuit against the previous lawyer, the
Criminal Magistrate Court, West Amman issued a decision and conviction for offences in a charge of abuse of confidence
and obliged him to pay the aforementioned amount in addition to legal interest and fees, the defendant appealed the
decision, and on August 29, 2023, the court ruled to reject the appeal and upheld the original decision. A final and
certified ruling was issued by the Court of Cassation on June 23, 2024. It should be noted that the amount awarded has
not yet been collected or paid to the company as of the date of these financial statements.

The following table shows the aging of accounts receivable:

Due from 1-30 day

Due from 31-60 day
Due from 61-90 day
Due from 91-120 day
Due from 121-150 day
Due from 151-360 day
Due more than 361 day

The movement on the expected credit loss provision during the year was as follows:

Beginning balance of the year

Provision for the year

Expected Credit Loss Provision Recovery
Bad debt*

2024 2023
D D
137 487 129 689
24519 35321
195 507 30 266
13 462 8 877
26 657 12113
28 646 18 378
1510 957 1525 102
1937235 1759 746
2024 2023
D D
1540 772 1523 870
- 18 336
(11 700) -
(9 421) (1434)
1519 651 1540 772

* The group’s management decided to settle some of accounts receivable, accordingly, the management closed the

accounts receivables balance in the expected credit losses provision.
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11) Other debit balances

2024 2023
JD JD
Refundable deposits 20548 20327
Prepaid expenses 39963 40 488
Income tax deposits 21493 22 252
Accrued interests 6971 6 100
88 975 89 167
12) Cash and cash equivalents
2024 2023
JD JD
Bank Deposits * 945 000 1221962
Cash at banks 230672 158 352
Cash on hand 1633 2 858
1177 305 1383172

* These deposits are in Jordanian dinars and short-term, and have annual interest at 5.4% - 6% during the year ending
31 December 2024 (2023: 5.4% - 5.9%).

13) Equity

Share capital
The authorized capital and paid-in capital of the company is JD 46 967 755 divided into 46 967 755 shares at 1 JD per
share.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is allocated according to the Jordanian Companies Law by deducting 10% of the annual net profit until
the reserve equals 25% of the Company's subscribed capital However, the Company may, with the approval of the
General Assembly, continue to deduct this annual ratio until this reserve equals the subscribed capital of the Company
in full. Such reserve is not available for dividends distribution. The General Authority may, after depletion the other
reserves, decide at an extraordinary meeting to resolve the accumulated losses from the amounts collected in the
statutory reserve account, provided that they are rebuilt in accordance with the provisions of the Law.

Treasury stocks
This item represents the cost of parent Company shares purchased by Al-Niser International Investment Group, the
amount of these shares is 211 517, the value is 269 558 JD as of 31 December 2024 and 2023.

14) Accounts payable

2024 2023
D D
Trade payables 121137 109 013
Deposits for others* 126 868 153183
248 005 262 196

*This item represents the share of BIC Contracting Company, which owns 40% of the commercial center of Agarco, from
the rental income of the center after deducting the operating expenses.
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15) Other credit balances

2024 2023
D D

Shareholder's refunds 376 680 378330
Unpaid shareholders' profits 102 030 102 198
Accrued expenses 8672 8952
Postdated checks 23 256 23 256
Income and sales tax deposits 20 505 20186
Provision for employee leaves 12 777 14 526
Refundable deposits 11 896 12 016
Provision for end of service indemnity 11 860 7 106
Social security deposits 938 6120
Others 589 589

569 203 573 279

16)Income tax and national contribution

Jordan Decapolis Properties Company

No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 due to tax losses.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The tax return for the year 2023 has been submitted, however, the returns has not been reviewed by the Income and
Sales Tax Department until the date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department for the year 2022.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2021 according to the sampling system in
29 August 2022.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2020.

Ahyaa Amman for Real Estate Rehabilitation and Development Company
No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 Due to accumulated losses that are
taxable.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.
The tax return for the year 2023 has been submitted, however, the returns has not been reviewed by the Income and
Sales Tax Department until the date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2022.

Al-Niser International Investment Group
The income tax was calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 accordance with Jordanian Income Tax Law No.
(38) Of 2018.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2023 according to the sampling system in
16 July 2024.

The tax return for the years 2022,2021 and 2020 has been submitted, however, the returns has not been reviewed by
the Income and Sales Tax Department until the date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2019 according to the sampling system in
3 October 2020.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2018.
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Jordan Dubai Properties Company for Lands Development
The income tax was calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 accordance with Jordanian Income Tax Law No.
(38) Of 2018.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2023 according to the sampling system in
16 July 2024.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2022.

Jordan Dubai Specialized Resorts company
No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 due to tax losses.
The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020 according to
the sampling system.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2019.

South of the Dead Sea Development for Specialized Resorts Company
The income tax was calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 accordance with Jordanian Income Tax Law No.
(38) Of 2018.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2023.

Jordan Eye for Tourism Resorts Company
No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 due to tax losses.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.
The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2023, 2022 and 2021 according to the
sampling system.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2020.

Aman Jordan Decapolis for Tourism Investments Company
No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 due to tax losses.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the years 2019 to 2023 according to the sampling
system.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2018.
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Ahyaa Amman for Hotel Investments Company
No income tax provision has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2024 due to tax losses.

The income tax rate is 20% + 1% national contribution tax.
The tax return for the year 2023 has been submitted, however, the returns has not been reviewed by the Income and
Sales Tax Department until the date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Income and Sales Tax Department accepted the tax returns for the year 2022, 2021 and 2020 according to the
sampling system.

The Company has reached to a final settlement with the Income and Sales Tax Department up to the end of the year
2019.

The movement on the income tax provision during the year is as follows:

2024 2023
JD D
Beginning balance 7 251 527
Income tax and national contribution expense for the year 5111 7 251
Paid income tax (10 134) (527)
Ending balance 2228 7 251
17)Revenues from properties lease
2024 2023
JD D
Commercial Agarco Center 154 065 139 962
Ahyaa Amman buildings 183 968 189 242
Al-Niser buildings 244 652 238 139
Agaba warehouse 5442 4847
588 127 572 190
18) Properties operating expenses
2024 2023
JD D
Group's share of operating expenses* 35843 36 835
Building tax and sewage 74 997 79 231
Salaries and rewards 56 487 54 388
Health insurance and treatments 16 286 16 604
Maintenance 21342 27 681
Electricity and water 4104 4682
Group contribution to the social security 7944 7621
Legal fees 6 652 4764
Telephone and postage 812 1387
previous years expenses 5767 -
Others 8262 6713
Professional fees 406 424
Cleaning and safety - 525
238 902 240 855

*This item represents the share of Jordan Decapolis Properties from the operating expenses of the Commercial Agarco
Center, which were allocated by the Owners Association of the Commercial Center of Agarco to the owners each per
ownership.
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19) Administrative expenses

Salaries and other benefits
Electricity and water

Telephone and postage

Rents

Group contribution to social security
Health insurance and treatments
Professional fees

Licenses and subscriptions
Stationery and office supplies
Marketing

Hospitality

Maintenance and Cleaning

Others

Vehicle expenses

Traveling and transportation
Transportation board of directors of assosiate companies
Bank charges

20)Basic and diluted loss per share for the year

Loss for the year attributable to the shareholders
Weighted average number of outstanding shares

21)Contingent liabilities

2024 2023
D D

245771 245 489

5614 5792

7474 7488

9362 9362

32692 34390

23 110 24 507

48 048 47743

24 455 23 761

1952 2611

330 230

7879 8471

5 064 3701

6487 8138

7941 8623

371 1033

17 400 5400

1010 943

444 960 437 682

2024 2023

D D

(250 586) (1162 453)

46 967 755 46967 755

(0.005) (0.025)

The Group has no contingent liabilities during the year ending 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Lawsuits filed by the group

There is a lawsuit filed by Jordan Dubai Properties Company for Lands Development (subsidiary company) against the
previous lawyer, which represents credit abuse and there is a claim of personal right to this complaint which amounted
of 478 510 JD, the Criminal Magistrate Court, West Amman issued a decision and conviction for offences in a charge of
abuse of confidence and obliged him to pay the aforementioned amount in addition to legal interest and fees, the
defendant appealed the decision, and on August 29, 2023, the court ruled to reject the appeal and upheld the original
decision. A final and certified ruling was issued by the Court of Cassation on June 23, 2024.
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22)Discontinued Operations

The Board of Directors of Muniah for Specialized Resorts Company (subsidiary Company 74%) decided on its meeting
held on 29 March 2016 to liquidate the Company, However the Board of Directors of the Group decided to approve
the liquidation and accordingly the subsidiary was classified as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS (5),
the company's' liquidator was appointed in the company's' extraordinary Meeting held on 6 April 2016 .

The details of the assets and liabilities of Muniah Specialized Resorts (the subsidiary) classified as available for sale as of
31 December as follows:

2024 2023

Assets JD JD

Cash and cash equivalents 366 366
Other debit balances 73 818 73 818
Property, plant and equipment 58 641 58 641
Projects under construction 43 779 524 43 779 524
Provision of impairment for projects under construction (16 107 290) (16 107 290)
Advance payments to contractors 1627290 1627290
Lands under development 3625695 3625695
Total assets 33 058 044 33 058 044
Liabilities

Accounts payable 5576 459 5576 459
other credit balances 3020555 3020555
loan installments due within a year 20860114 20860114
Total liabilities 29 457 128 29 457 128
Net assets associated with discontinued operations 3600916 3600916

23)Risk management

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
Moreover, the Group manages interest rate risks through applying the sensitivity analysis of interest rate instruments
in a manner that does not material affect net interest income.

Currency risks

The Group's main operations are in Jordanian Dinar. Moreover, currency risk relates to the risk of changes in currency
rates that relate to payments denominated in foreign currencies. As for transactions in US Dollars, management believes
that the foreign currency risk relating to the US Dollar is immaterial as the Jordanian Dinar (the functional currency) is
pegged to the US Dollar.

Credit risk

Credit risk relates to the other party's inability to meet its contractual obligations leading to the incurrence of losses by
the Group. Moreover, the Group adopts a policy of dealing with creditworthy parties in order to mitigate the financial
losses arising from the Group's default on its liabilities.

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was as follows:

2024 2023
JD D

Checks under collection 27 472 20292
Accounts receivables 417 584 218974
Other debit balances 49 012 48 679
Cash at banks 1175672 1380314
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 974 225 3503711

2 643 965 5171970
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage to the Group reputation.

The following are the contracted maturities of financial liabilities:

Less than year More than year Total
31 December 2024 JD D D
Accounts payable 248 005 - 248 005
Due to related parties 540 540 - 540 540
Other credit balances 569 203 - 569 203
Income tax and national contribution provision 2228 - 2228
1359976 - 1359976
31 December 2023
Accounts payable 262 196 - 262 196
Due to related parties 462 462 - 462 462
Other credit balances 573279 - 573 279
Income tax and national contribution provision 7 251 - 7 251
1305188 - 1305188

24)Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets consist of due from related parties, accounts receivable, checks under collection, cash on hand and
banks and some other debit balances.

Financial liabilities consist of accounts payable, other credit balances and loan.

The fair values of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values.

25)Segmental Information

An operating segment is a Group of components affected by risks and returns that distinguish it from others and engages
in producing products or services known as operating segments or engages in producing products or services within
economic environments known as geographical segments.

A- Operating Segment
The Group operates only one operating segment which is the real estate sector, and all its revenues and expenses are

related to this sector.

B- Geographical Segment
The Group operations are located inside the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

26) Fair Value Hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Prices quoted in active markets for similar instruments or
through the use of valuation model that includes inputs that can be traced to markets, these inputs good be defend
directly or indirectly.

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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27)Related party transactions

Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities
controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.

Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's management. Balances with related parties
included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Due to related parties

Nature of the 2024 2023
relationship D D
Madaeen Alshourooq for Real Estate Development & investment Co.* Associate 540 540 462 462

*This item represents the advance payments against Madaeen Alshourooq for Real Estate Development & investment
Company capital decrease, where the general assembly of Madaeen Alshourooq for Real Estate Development & investment
Company decided in extraordinary meeting held on 7 September 2022 to decrease the Share capital through distributing
cash to the shareholders and write off the accumulated Losses, noting that these procedures were completed with the
companies control department on 11 March 2025.

Other receivables

2024 2023
D D
Shareholders' receivables 134 207 134 207
Account Receivable Owners Association of Agarco Commercial Center 118909 111190
253116 245 397
Provision for shareholders’ receivables (134 207) (134 207)
118 909 111190
Transactions with related parties
Nature of 2024 2023
transaction JD JD
Properties Management revenue — The association owners of Agarco building Revenues 78 935 76 511
Company's share from operating expenses Aqarco building Expenses 35843 36 835

The parent Company (Jordan Decapolis Properties) owns 47% from Agarco commercial center, which is managed by the
elected association.

Executive Administration benefits

2024 2023
JD D
Salaries and emoluments 141 112 106 239

28) Capital Management

The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains capital ratios in order to support
it business and maximize shareholder value.

The group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Capital comprises share capital, Statutory reserve, treasury stocks, Cumulative change in fair value, accumulated losses
and non-controlling interests and is measured at 45 310 297 JD as at 31 December 2024 (2023: JD 48 080 625).
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29) Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they
become effective:

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments— Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In May 2024, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments (the Amendments). The Amendments include:

- A clarification that a financial liability is derecognized on the ‘settlement date’ and introduce an accounting policy
choice (if specific conditions are met) to derecognize financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system
before the settlement date

- Additional guidance on how the contractual cash flows for financial assets with environmental, social and corporate
governance (ESG) and similar features should be assessed

- Clarifications on what constitute ‘non-recourse features’ and what are the characteristics of contractually linked
instruments

- The introduction of disclosures for financial instruments with contingent features and additional disclosure
requirements for equity instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCl)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, with
an option to early adopt the amendments for classification of financial assets and related disclosures only.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity — Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In December 2024, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 to address the accounting and disclosure
requirements for contracts referencing nature-dependent electricity, such as wind, solar, and hydro power. These
amendments aim to provide clearer guidance on the classification, measurement, and recognition of these contracts,
which are inherently variable due to their dependence on natural conditions. The changes seek to improve the
consistency and comparability of financial statements by clarifying whether such contracts should be treated as financial
instruments or executory contracts and how they should be measured. Additionally, the amendments enhance
disclosure requirements to provide greater transparency about the risks and financial impacts associated with these
contracts, thereby offering users more relevant and reliable information. This initiative supports the global transition to
renewable energy by addressing the unique accounting challenges posed by nature-dependent electricity contracts.

The Amendments are effective for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, but
will need to be disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Lack of exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to specify how
an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange rate when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments also require disclosure of information that enables users of its financial
statements to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to
affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is
permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof the first three are
new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income and
expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on the
identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements (PFS) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include changing the
starting point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating
profit or loss’ and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends and interest. In addition,
there are consequential amendments to several other standards.

IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.

This standard will result in new presentation of the income statement with some new required totals, in addition to the
disclosure of management-defined performance measures.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

In May 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 19, which allows eligible entities to elect to apply its reduced disclosure requirements
while still applying the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRS accounting standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements,
available for public use, which comply with IFRS accounting standards.

IFRS 19 will become effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

30) Comparative figures

Some of the comparative figures for the year 2023 have been reclassified to correspond with the year ended
31 December 2024 presentation and it did not result in any change to the last year's operating results.
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